S252035

S

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MANNY VILLANUEVA et al.,
Plaintiffs and Appellants,

vs.

FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE COMPANY,
Defendant and Appellant.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
Sixth Appellate District
Case Nos. H041870, H042504
(Santa Clara County Super. Ct. No. 1-10-CV173356)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Service on the Attorney General and District Attorney required
by Bus. & Prof. Code § 17209 and Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.29

SHERNOFF BIDART ECHEVERRIA LLP
Michael J. Bidart (SBN 60582)
600 South Indian Hill Boulevard
Claremont, California 91711
Phone: (909) 621-4935
Email: mbidart@shernoff.com

FRIEDMAN RUBIN
Richard H. Friedman (SBN 221622)
1126 Highland Avenue

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The Legislature enacted four identical McBride-Grunsky “safe harbor” statutes (Ins. Code secs. 795.7, 1860.1, 11758, and 12414.26). These provide the insurance industry with limited immunity from certain kinds of civil suits. What is the scope of the immunity? Do courts have jurisdiction to *interpret* rates? How should this Court resolve the conflicts among this and other courts?

2. Does the Insurance Commissioner have exclusive original jurisdiction over claims that the public was charged *unfiled, unauthorized or unapproved* rates, and/or that charges *exceeded* the filed rates? Or do the courts share jurisdiction with the Commissioner, as this Court held in *Farmers v. Superior Court* (1992) and as the Insurance Commissioner maintains? How should this Court resolve the conflicts between court of appeal opinions?

3. Where members of the public are charged more than the filed rate, or are charged an unapproved, unfiled or unauthorized rate, does the law allow them to be made whole? Did the Legislature intend to exempt the insurance industry from the fundamental principle that, “for every wrong there is a remedy?”

4. Does Insurance Code section 12414.27 require title insurers and title companies to charge “in accordance with rate filings which have become effective,” as its plain language states?

INTRODUCTION AND GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

The Insurance Code requires insurers and related businesses in virtually all lines of insurance to file their rates with the Insurance Commissioner before charging them to the public. And under the Insurance Code, the public can only be charged in accordance with the filed rates. The published opinion below is the first ever to bar the public:

- from suing insurers who charge rates that were *never filed*, let alone *authorized and approved*;
- from suing insurers who charge more than allowed by their filed rates;
- from seeking judicial interpretation of a filed rate.

And here, also for the first time, a published opinion holds that the Legislature gave the Commissioner *exclusive, original* jurisdiction over such claims by the public – while *acknowledging that the Commissioner has no ability to make the public whole*.

Even prior to this opinion, California’s decisional law in this critical area was marked by contradiction – and even confusion. Various appellate panels have published opinions that not only conflict with each other, but also do not conform to *this Court’s* decisions. The opinion below – by taking this completely new course

– has made a bad problem much worse.

If this opinion stands, for the first time, members of the public overcharged for insurance or related services by unlawful rates, will have absolutely no meaningful remedy by which they can be made whole. The Insurance Commissioner cannot order restitution or refunds, and the courts will be closed. Review should be granted to secure uniformity of decision by settling the above important questions of law. (Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b).)

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In this certified class action, Fidelity National Title Co. charged 500,000 members of the public more than allowed by the rates Fidelity had filed with the Insurance Commissioner. (AA 433:30-31; Opinion, 10, 38.) Although not itself an insurance company, Fidelity National is wholly owned by a title insurer. For rate regulation purposes under the Insurance Code, it is treated just like a title insurer and is required to charge in accordance with its rate filings. (Opinion, 19.)

The class pursued causes of action for breach of fiduciary duty and violation of the Unfair Competition Law among others. The trial court dismissed the breach of fiduciary duty claim. (Opinion, 9.) The UCL action went to trial. As to some charges, the trial court had to “*interpret Fidelity’s rate filings,*” to determine whether the rates in fact encompassed those charges. (Opinion, 37.)

After trial, the court decided that Fidelity had unlawfully charged half a million members of the public unfiled rates which had “neither been approved nor accepted by the Insurance Commissioner.” (Opinion, 13, 25, 29; AA 433:30-31.)

The trial court entered judgment in favor of these 500,000 class members, granted injunctive relief and awarded the class its costs, but decided that the class had not shown entitlement to restitution, for reasons not at issue in this Petition. (Opinion, 14.)

Central to the Opinion below, and to this Petition, is Fidelity’s claim of immunity under Insurance Code section 12414.26 – one of four essentially identical “safe harbor” provisions modeled on the immunity section of the 1947 McBride-Grunsky Insurance Regulatory Act (“McBride-Grunsky”). The original (§ 1860.1) was applicable to all but seven classes of insurance, starting in 1947. Thereafter, the Legislature extended McBride-Grunsky immunity to three additional classes of insurance: workers compensation (§ 11758, added 1951), senior citizen health (§ 795.7, added 1963), and title (§12414.26, added 1973). The immunity language, broken out into its elements, is:

- » No act done, action taken, or agreement made
- » **pursuant to the authority conferred by Article 5.5** (commencing with Section 12401) **or Article 5.7** (commencing with Section 12402) of this chapter
- » shall constitute a violation of or grounds for prosecution or civil proceedings
- » under any other law of this state heretofore or hereafter

enacted

» which does not specifically refer to insurance.

The trial court (correctly) rejected Fidelity’s statutory immunity claim, focusing on the “**authority conferred by**” prong: “Section 12414.26 confers immunity for an ‘act done, action taken, or agreement made **pursuant to the authority conferred by Article 5.5...**’ Section 12414.26 does not apply because Article 5.5 did not *authorize* the unlawful charges. Nothing in Article 5.5 authorizes the charges for a service other than in accordance with rate filings.”

(Opinion, 22, *emph. added.*)

The Sixth DCA below, in a *published* opinion, reversed the trial court, despite agreeing that Fidelity had violated the Insurance Code and charged class members unlawfully. (Opinion, 38.) Breaking with all precedent, the Opinion interprets the McBride-Grunsky safe harbor language to immunize the insurance industry from any and all civil suits – statutory and common law – in which “the conduct at issue . . . is **related to ratemaking.**” (Opinion, 36.) In so holding, the court below completely rewrote the immunity statute, which contains no such language.

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.504(b)(3), petitioners inform the Court that no petition for rehearing was filed below.

DISCUSSION

I. **The opinion immunizes most of the insurance industry from all liability for unlawful overcharges. It extends far beyond title insurance.**

As noted, courts consider the McBride-Grunsky immunity statutes to be essentially identical. (See, e.g., *SCIF v. Superior Ct.* (2001) 24 Cal.4th 930, 938-939; *Donabedian v. Mercury* (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 968, 990). Accordingly, the rules of statutory construction require that they be construed together:

- It is an “established rule” that “*similar statutes should be construed in light of one another.*” (*Krumme v. Mercury Ins.* (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 924, 943 fn. 6.)
- “Identical words used in... a similar statute usually have the same meaning.” (3B Sutherland Statutory Construction (8th ed.), § 72:4, Insurance.)
- “[All statutes in an insurance code are intended to be part of a uniform system of regulation and are in pari materia, and are construed together to produce a harmonious statutory scheme.” (*Id.*, emph. added.)

Thus, courts appropriately consider all McBride-Grunsky immunity opinions to be authoritative as to any of the individual examples.

So, for example, when this Court construed Section 11758 (workers compensation), it discussed decisions interpreting Section 1860.1 (property & casualty). (*SCIF, supra*, at 941-942, discussing *Walker v. Allstate* (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 750.) Similarly, *Donabedian* cited *SCIF* (construing Sec. 11758) and *Quelimane v. Stewart Title* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 26 (construing Sec. 12414.26) in its analysis of Section 1860.1. (*Donabedian, supra*, at 978, 987-990.) The Opinion below follows suit, citing *Walker* (construing Sec. 1860.1), *SCIF* (construing Sec. 11758), and *Quelimane* (construing Sec. 12414.26), among others.

This Court can therefore expect future courts to treat the Opinion below as controlling authority in *any and all* cases implicating a McBride-Grunsky safe harbor, e.g., in cases involving auto insurance, homeowners, commercial liability, workers compensation, etc. The importance of the Opinion most certainly extends *far beyond* the title industry.

II. The opinion below not only conflicts with decisions of other appellate panels, but also with those of this Court – exacerbating the confusion.

The court below summarized its reasoning as follows:

“Fidelity **failed to comply** with sections 12401.1, 12410.2, and 12401.7, all of which are in [the ratemaking article]. In our view, this conduct constitutes acts done **pursuant to the authority conferred by [that article.]** Thus, the claims . . . are barred by the section 12414.26 immunity.”

(Opinion, 38, *emph. added*)

What? How can a “failure to comply” with a statute be an act done “pursuant to the authority conferred by” that statute? Not only does this defy logic, it is wholly inconsistent with several opinions by other appellate panels. These include *Mackay v. Superior Court (21st Century Ins.)* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 1427, and *Fogel v. Farmers Group* (2008) 160 Cal.App.4th 1403. *Fogel*, for example, holds: “By its plain language, [the immunity statute] does not apply here because [the ratemaking chapter] does *not* authorize the collection of [the subject fees].” (*Fogel* at 1415, *emph. added.*) This holding simply cannot be reconciled with the “logic” of the Opinion.

The Opinion below holds that immunity applies to all conduct “related to ratemaking.” (Opinion, 36.) This directly conflicts with *Mackay*, which holds that the immunity statute “does *not* exempt *all* acts done ‘pursuant to’ the chapter—which is to say, *all ratemaking acts. . .*” (*Mackay* at 1443, *emph. added.*)

Mackay also holds that the immunity statute “exempts acts done ‘pursuant to the *authority conferred* by this chapter.’. . . An insurer charging a *preapproved* rate is doing an act or taking an action pursuant to the authority conferred by the chapter.” (*Mackay*, at 1443.) The safe harbor “exempts *such* acts....” (*Id.* at 1443, *emph. added.*)

But “if the underlying conduct challenged was *not* the charging of an approved rate, but the application of an unapproved underwriting guideline,” the immunity statute “would not be

applicable.” (*Mackay* at 1450.) Here, the underlying conduct was the application of rates that “have neither been approved nor accepted by the Insurance Commissioner.” (Opinion, p. 25.) The Opinion holds that the immunity statute *is* applicable. The two holdings are in complete opposition. **Both cannot be correct.**

Seventeen years ago this Court explained the importance of the fact that these immunity statutes refer to acts done “pursuant to the *authority* conferred by” the ratemaking articles, as opposed to just, “pursuant to” the ratemaking articles. (*SCIF* at 936, *emph. in orig.*) But it is exactly this critical distinction that the Opinion wipes out. Extending immunity to any conduct “related to ratemaking,” is another way of saying that immunity extends to acts done “pursuant to” the ratemaking article, instead of “pursuant to the authority conferred by” that article. And that is exactly the opposite of this Court’s directive. The Opinion below is in conflict.

Overall, the Opinion holds that the scope of the immunity statutes is extremely broad, encompassing any and all conduct “related to ratemaking.” *Mackay*, on the other hand, describes that statute as “very narrow.” (*Id.* at 1443, 1450.) Only this Court can announce which is right.

III. The Opinion cannot be harmonized with cases holding that the Legislature intended to afford insurers antitrust immunity only.

In 1947, the California insurance industry achieved passage of “the *minimal*” rate regulation “required to exempt California insurance from federal antitrust law.” (*Donabedian*, at 980.) This was the McBride-Grunsky Insurance Regulatory Act of 1947. (Ins. Code §§ 1850-1860.3.) Section 1860.1 was “adopted to immunize insurers from [state] antitrust laws.” (*Donabedian, supra*, at 990; *Mackay, supra*, at 1447.) As this Court noted after reviewing the legislative history, the intent was “to adopt a regulatory law which would permit [the] collection of data” for “rate making purposes.” (*SCIF* at 939, citing legislative history.) And as noted in *Fogel, supra*, the Legislative intent behind Section 1860.1 was “to *authorize cooperation* between insurers in rate making and other related matters.” (*Id.* at 1410.)

“Concert of action among insurers” was “required...so that adequate statistical information would be available upon which to promulgate rates.” (*SCIF, supra*, at 939.)

Title insurance was one of seven insurance classes exempted from McBride-Grunsky. Title insurers apparently preferred the risk of antitrust liability to even the modest rate regulation imposed under McBride-Grunsky.

In late 1972, William Shernoff filed a Cartwright Act antitrust class action against a group of title insurers. (*Shernoff v. Superior Court* (1975) 44 Cal.App.3d 406.) As a result, within nine months,

and at the request of the title industry, the Legislature extended McBride-Grunsky to title insurance. The state antitrust immunity statute was codified at Insurance Code section 12414.26.

The immunity was designed to allow title insurance companies “to share loss experience to determine rates,” i.e, for the same purpose as the other identical immunity statutes. (Uri, 17 Real Estate L.J. 313, 319 (1989).) Thus, Articles 5.5 and 5.7 of the Title Insurance Act expressly authorize competing title insurers to share such information. Article 5.7 expressly authorizes “advisory organizations” to operate. They “supply data related to ratemaking” (*Quelimane, supra*, 19 Cal.4th at 44-45), including loss and expense data, from one title insurer to its competitors, so long as they are also members. (§ 12340.7.) In addition, Article 5.5 authorizes title insurers and their advisory organizations to extend this data sharing nationally via out of state rating organizations.

In 2000, the Second DCA decided *Walker v. Allstate*. The court noted that plaintiffs, in their opening brief, simply “ignore[d]” the safe harbor statute, and in their reply, did no more than “string together pages of statutory quotations with hardly any analysis.” (*Walker, supra*, at 755.) Accordingly, *Walker* had no reason to analyze the legislative history of the safe harbor, nor to address the antitrust limitation, and didn’t.

In 2001, however, this Court considered the scope of Section 11758, the McBride-Grunsky immunity provision applicable to workers compensation insurance. This Court reviewed the legislative history, and held in *SCIF* that immunity extends only “to concerted

activity otherwise barred by the antitrust laws, *and not to the individual misconduct of an insurer.*" (SCIF, *supra*, at 938.)

In 2004, *Donabedian, supra*, held that the property & casualty immunity provision (§ 1860.1) – basically identical to the workers compensation statute reviewed by this Court three years earlier – *also* does not bar an action which “challenges *the unilateral conduct* of a single insurer, does not involve *concerted action*, and has *no antitrust implications....*” (*Donabedian, supra*, at 990-991, *emph. added.*)

In 2010, *Mackay* also considered whether Section 1860.1 applies only to concerted action. *Mackay* also reviewed the legislative history and agreed that the Section 1860.1 immunity provision “was enacted, in the first instance, to immunize insurers from antitrust laws.... its *initial* intent... was to exempt insurers from antitrust laws.” (*Id.* at 1444, 1447, *emph. in original.*)

Mackay then held, rather remarkably, that by enacting Proposition 103, the voters *changed* the legislative intent of the section, *but without changing any of its words.* *Mackay* cited no precedent for such a procedure. Nevertheless, *Mackay* went on to declare that the “purpose for which it was initially enacted” is “now superseded.” (*Id.* at 1448.) *Mackay* further held that after the passage of Proposition 103, Section 1860.1 is no longer to be interpreted “in accordance with its *initial* intent, which was to exempt insurers from antitrust laws.” (*Mackay, supra*, 188 Cal.App.4th at 1446, *emph. in original.*)

If *Mackay* was correctly decided, then the passage of

Proposition 103 was a hugely important fork in the road for McBride-Grunsky immunity law. Section 1860.1 – its purpose purportedly changed by Proposition 103 – went spinning off *in a new direction*: it now applied to suits alleging *individual* insurer misconduct. The other three immunity sections – exempt from, and therefore unaffected by, Proposition 103 – remained as they always had been: limited to immunizing insurers from certain antitrust actions.

Of course, *MacKay* is completely at odds with *Donabedian*. Like *MacKay*, *Donabedian* was decided well after the enactment of Proposition 103. But *Donabedian* squarely held that Section 1860.1 immunity is limited to certain antitrust suits and does not apply to suits alleging *individual* insurer misconduct. (*Donabedian, supra*, 116 Cal.App.4th at 990-991.) Apparently, the *Donabedian* court did not observe the somewhat opaque, implied change in legislative intent – unaccompanied by any change in statutory language – revealed to *MacKay*.

As can be seen even from this brief overview, the decisional law in this area is riddled with inconsistency. A typical comment is that appearing in 27 Insurance Litigation Reporter 73 (2005), observing that both *Walker, supra*, and *Donbedian, supra*, address the question of whether consumers can bring private actions in court challenging premiums, rates and rate plans, “reaching inconsistent and largely irreconcilable results.” And by extending immunity to unilateral misconduct of one company, the Opinion greatly exacerbates the problem.

IV. The Opinion’s unprecedented expansion of immunity seems to be based on a total misread of this Court’s decision 20 years ago in *Quelimane v. Fidelity Title*.

Quelimane, a Cartwright Act antitrust case, considered the title insurance McBride-Grunsky immunity statute. (*Quelimane v. Stewart Title* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 26, 35, 39, 43.) Plaintiffs alleged “a conspiracy to *deny* title insurance,” not to *fix rates*. (*Id.* at 48.) Properly understood, this Court’s holding was limited to concerted action cases, i.e., to the question of:

“whether the Insurance Code [incl. § 12414.26] displaces the UCL and provides the only remedies for plaintiffs who have been harmed *by an alleged conspiracy* among title insurers to *refuse to sell* title insurance... We conclude that the Insurance Code does not displace the UCL except as to title company activities related to rate setting.”

(*Id.*)

This Court made crystal clear that it was *not* deciding the overall scope of Section 12414.26 immunity:

“We decide here **only** whether a title insurer’s *violation of the Cartwright Act* in conduct *unrelated to rate fixing* may be the predicate for a UCL action, and if this complaint states a cause of action under the UCL for violation of the Cartwright Act. *We decline the invitation to go beyond the issues raised in the petition for review.*”

(*Id.* at 33, 51, *emph. added.*)

Thus, this Court certainly did *not* hold that insurers have

immunity from *all* lawsuits alleging *any* conduct “related to ratemaking.” But this is exactly what the court below thinks *Quelimane* holds. (Opinion, 30-31, 36-37.)

In *Quelimane*, this Court declined to address whether the immunity statute can apply outside the context of an antitrust suit, to actions against individual insurers. This Court also did not explain what it meant by “conduct related to rate setting,” nor whether *all* such conduct was immunized or just some. As the USDC correctly noted in an unpublished opinion cited in the Opinion, this Court “did not specifically address the circumstances in which Section 12414.26 may displace claims in the rate setting context.” (*Lyons v. First Am. Title* (CD Cal. 2009) 2009 WL 5195866, *5.)

Since *Quelimane* did not *involve* conduct related to rate setting, the rate setting language is, in any event, dictum. An opinion “is not authority for a proposition not therein considered.” (*McDowell & Craig v. City of Santa Fe Springs* (1960) 54 Cal.2d 33, 38.)

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