**Case No. S252035**

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

---

**MANNY VILLANUEVA**  
*Plaintiffs-Appellants-Petitioners,*

**v.**

**FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE COMPANY,**  
*Defendant-Appellee-Respondent.*

---

**FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE COMPANY'S  
ANSWER TO APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

Appeal from Judgment of the Superior Court of  
the State of California, County of Santa Clara  
The Honorable Peter H. Kirwan  
Case No. 1-10-CV-173356  
Court of Appeal Case Nos. H041870 & H042504

---

**HAHN LOESER & PARKS, LLP**  
Steven A. Goldfarb (SBN 317540)  
Michael J. Gleason (SBN 279434)  
600 W. Broadway, Suite 1500  
San Diego, CA 92101

## I. INTRODUCTION

Villanueva's<sup>1</sup> Petition for Review should be denied because he asks this Court to consider issues not raised in the Court of Appeal and because review is not "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(1) and (b)(1).)

First, the unanimous decision of the Sixth District (the Opinion) presents no conflict or important question of law regarding the statutory immunity provided for under the unambiguous plain language of Insurance Code section 12414.26. Instead, the Opinion simply applies the plain language of the statutory immunity to the facts of this case consistent with the well-settled law set forth in *Quelimane Company, Inc. v. Stewart Title Guaranty Company* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 26. The Opinion reaches the unremarkable conclusion that Defendant-Appellee Fidelity National Title Company (Fidelity) is immune under section 12414.26 from Villanueva's claims because Fidelity's rate-making and rate-usage conduct constituted "act[s] done, action[s] taken, or agreement[s] made pursuant to" the ratemaking authority conferred by the title insurance ratemaking chapter. (Ins. Code § 12414.26.) The Opinion undertook a painstaking, detailed analysis to understand the relevant Insurance Code sections and correctly

---

<sup>1</sup>"Villanueva" refers to Plaintiffs-Appellants-Petitioners Manny Villanueva and the certified class.

determined that the trial court had no jurisdiction to interpret whether Fidelity's rate manual sufficiently set forth rates supportive of the fees disputed by Villanueva. The Opinion also compares the present facts to the facts of other cases that made the same inquiry into whether a claim relates to rate-making and rate usage activity whether under the same immunity statute or others. The Opinion does not create any tension with either the Insurance Code or those cases and creates no conflict that would cause problems for other courts applying the law in the future.

Villanueva tries to manufacture inaccurate and irrelevant "conflicts" to justify review. Making an argument that he never raised in the Court of Appeal—which alone compels denial of review—Villanueva asserts that section 12414.26 must be limited to antitrust claims not "civil proceedings" as the plain language of the statute and applicable case law dictates. In this first instance, there is no conflict; the law remains settled that section 12414.26 precludes *all* civil proceedings based on title insurance rate-making activity and courts need only determine whether each particular civil proceeding involves such activity. A review of the decisions which Villanueva urges are in conflict shows that although the facts and statutory schemes in those cases may be different, courts consistently apply statutory immunity to rate-making activities and not to conduct unrelated to rate-making.

Second, the Opinion presents no conflict or important question of law regarding the California Department of Insurance's (CDI) exclusive jurisdiction, which the Court of Appeal found supported its immunity decision. Villanueva contends the CDI has primary jurisdiction (*i.e.*, jurisdiction shared with courts) and complains that the Opinion supposedly opens the door for regulated entities to impose unlawful charges unfettered by any review or repercussion. Appellants did not raise their primary jurisdiction argument in the Court of Appeal so this Court need not consider it. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(1).) Nonetheless, the Opinion opens no such door. Far from permitting regulated entities to impose unlawful charges without concern for repercussions, the Opinion simply requires administrative proceedings instead of civil proceedings, with those civil proceedings then being subject to judicial review, as directed by the Legislature. Because the Insurance Code has a "pervasive and self-contained system of administrative procedure[.]" those administrative proceedings prevent the unlawful charges Villanueva predicts will occur. (*Farmers Ins. Exch. v. Superior Court* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 377, 396 (*Farmers Insurance*).) If an insurer charges an unlawful rate, the CDI may impose civil and criminal penalties and recover refunds. (*See, infra*, section III.B.) Contrary to Villanueva's contention, this means consumers *can* obtain restitution through the administrative process. Thus, just as before the Opinion, consumers continue to have recourse and the

CDI continues to have oversight over “unlawful overcharges.” The Opinion changes nothing.

Third, the Opinion presents no conflict or important question of law regarding Insurance Code section 12414.27, a statutory provision which merely delayed the effect of new title insurance statutes in 1974. The legislative history of section 12414.27 clearly supports the implementing nature of this provision that has never before been discussed in any reported case. There is simply no basis for transforming section 12414.27—as Villanueva urges—into a means for avoiding the immunity created one section earlier in section 12414.26.

For these reasons, Fidelity respectfully requests that the Court deny the Petition.

## **II. BACKGROUND**

As noted in the Opinion, and briefly summarized here, this case centers on statutory rate regulation in the title insurance industry. When enacted, the purpose of article 5.5 of Chapter 1, entitled “Rate Filing and Regulation,” was “to promote the public welfare by regulating rates for the business of title insurance as herein provided to the end that they shall not be excessive, inadequate or unfairly discriminatory.” (Opinion at pp. 27-28 *citing* Stats. 1973, ch. 1130, p.2307 and Ins. Code § 12401.) The provisions of Insurance Code Article 5.5 (sections 12401 to 12401.10) require regulated title entities to establish “basic classification of coverages

and services to be used as the basis for determining rates” (Ins. Code § 12401.2) and to file their “schedules of rates . . . and every modification thereof” that they propose to use in California with the CDI. (*Id.* at § 12401.1.)

Section 12401.1 provides in relevant part: “Every . . . underwritten title company . . . shall file with the commissioner its schedule of rates, . . . and every modification thereof which it proposes to use in this state . . . Every filing shall set forth its effective date, which shall be not earlier than the 30th day following its receipt by the commissioner, and shall indicate the character and extent of the coverages and services contemplated.” (Ins. Code. § 12401.1.)

Section 12401.3 contains detailed standards that “apply to the making and use of rates” under article 5.5. It repeats the purpose of the statutory scheme that “[r]ates shall not be excessive or inadequate, . . . nor shall they be unfairly discriminatory” and, among other things, defines when a rate is “excessive” or “inadequate.” (Ins. Code § 12401.3(a).) The Insurance Code’s Article 5.5 governs both a regulated entity’s charging of filed rates and its charging of rates that were not filed. (See Ins. Code §§ 12401.1, 12401.3, 12401.7, 12401.71, and 12401.8.) The Insurance Code also creates specific steps for a title insurer to comply with rate making and rate usage requirements (*ibid.*) and provides for administrative review and enforcement to ensure compliance. (Ins. Code §§ 12414.13-

12414.19.)

In sum, the Insurance Code comprehensively governs all rate-making related conduct of regulated entities like Fidelity and contains its own pervasive and self-contained system of administrative procedure and enforcement. As such, section 12414.26 provides a grant of statutory immunity from all civil proceedings (and criminal proceedings) related to rate-making activity:

**§ 12414.26 Immunity from prosecution or civil proceedings**

No act done, action taken, or agreement made pursuant to the authority conferred by Article 5.5 (commencing with [§]12401) or Article 5.7 (commencing with [§]12402) of this chapter shall constitute a violation of or grounds for prosecution or civil proceedings under any other law of this state heretofore or hereafter enacted which does not specifically refer to insurance.

(Ins. Code § 12414.26.)

As the Opinion correctly held, Villanueva asserted claims based on rate-making activity which cannot be addressed in a civil proceeding. Such claims could have been addressed by an administrative proceeding before the CDI, which could have yielded a full complement of remedies, including restitution if a right to restitution was established. Of course, the Superior Court below found no restitution was available in any event, because Villanueva—irrespective of the alleged violations—suffered no injury in fact, received the benefit of the bargain, and was not entitled to restitution under the UCL based upon both legal and equitable principles.

### **III. THE LACK OF GROUNDS FOR REVIEW**

Review is not “necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law.” (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The Court of Appeal applied well-settled law to the unique facts of this unremarkable case in which—even setting aside immunity—the trial court determined no consumer was injured.

#### **A. The Opinion Presents No Conflict Or Important Issue For Review On Statutory Immunity**

Villanueva seeks to create conflict where none exists. The Opinion applied unambiguous, statutory plain language to unique facts just as the courts did in every other case cited by Villanueva. That some cases find statutory immunity applies and some find otherwise, does not mean a reviewable conflict exists. The disparate immunity findings are just the ordinary work of the courts applying specific immunity statutes to the unique facts before them. The courts’ work will continue because the Court of Appeal here made no determinations as to any other case, let alone any other immunity statutes, and certainly did not “immunize[] most of the insurance industry from all liability for unlawful overcharges” as Villanueva urges. (Petition For Review (PFR) at p. 9, § I.)

#### **1. Villanueva’s Request To Rewrite Section 12414.26’s Unambiguous Plain Terms Is Better Directed To the Legislature**

In the first instance, Villanueva’s Petition should be seen for what it

is: a request to rewrite section 12414.26's unambiguous statutory plain language. Such a request can only be directed to the Legislature.

To answer whether the statute applies, the Court of Appeal was required only to analyze whether Villanueva challenged an “act done, action taken, or agreement made [by Fidelity] pursuant to the authority conferred by Article 5.5.” (Ins. Code § 12414.26; see also Opinion at p. 36 [“whether the action is barred by statutory immunity turns on the wrong alleged.”].) The Court of Appeal did so, recognizing that all of Villanueva's claims challenged Fidelity's rate-making activities (including rate usage) which Fidelity performed pursuant to authority conferred by Article 5.5. (Opinion at pp. 36-38.)

The entire action was about Fidelity's rate-making and rate-usage activities. For each claim, the court examined Fidelity's making of rate manuals and the language Fidelity chose to describe the fees it charged or collected. (Opinion at pp. 36-38.) Even for Delivery Theory No. 1 and the Gap Period Draw Deed Theory, in which Villanueva asserted there was no filed “*rate*” (*i.e.*, a dollar amount charge) such that Fidelity was allegedly using rates without having first filed them, the Court was required to interpret *statements* in rate filings to determine if they sufficiently addressed the challenged fees as Fidelity asserted or if they were deficient as Villanueva asserted. (*Id.* at pp. 14, 28 n. 10, 40 n. 14.) For example, under Delivery Theory No. 1, the Court was required to evaluate statements

such as “Residential Loan Escrow Services do not include . . . special delivery or courier fees . . . .” and “[u]nless specifically indicated, Residential Loan Escrow Services do not include...expedited or overnight delivery fees....” (6 Appellants’ Appendix (AA) 1377:12-1378:15.) The trial court cited similar statements in non-parties’ rate manuals as examples of compliant filings such as “The OneRate shown in this Section does not include [X, Y, Z.]” (7 AA 1404, fn. 45; 2 Respondent’s Appendix (RA) 232, ¶ E-1a.) However, the trial court declined to address, even upon Fidelity’s objections to the Statement of Decision, why Fidelity’s substantially similar “statements” did not preclude a finding of an Insurance Code violation. (6 AA 1377:10-1380:3.) The challenge to the “Gap Period Draw Deed Fees” additionally required examination of Fidelity’s rate-making and rate usage to determine whether the fees were addressed by and charged under an “unusual services” provision permitted by statute. (Opinion at p. 13.) Thus, the Opinion’s conclusion that under these facts Villanueva challenged an “act done, action taken, or agreement made [by Fidelity] pursuant to the authority conferred by Article 5.5 [governing rate making and usage]” such that immunity applied, is unremarkable. (Opinion at pp. 36-38.) Courts routinely apply plain statutory language. Villanueva’s arguments that the statute should not be applied according to its plain language but instead be rewritten can only be directed to the Legislature.

2. **No Conflict Exists In How Courts Are Applying Statutory Immunity Provisions To The Unique Facts Before Them**

In an effort to show a conflict that necessitates rewriting section 12414.26, Villanueva urges that the Opinion conflicts with other case law because in some cases immunity applied and in others it did not. (PFR at pp. 10-16 at §§ II. and III.) There is no conflict.

The Opinion recognizes that disparate determinations of immunity does not mean that immunity cases are in tension. Instead, as the Opinion recognizes, despite the different contexts of the cases and the nuances of the respective statutory schemes, one thing is clear: immunity applies to rate-making activities because rate-making activities are “act[s] done, action[s] taken, or agreement[s] made pursuant to the authority conferred by Article 5.5.” (See Opinion at pp. 36-37.) That bedrock principle was established in *Quelimane*, in which this Court held that the statutory immunity in section 12414.26 applies to “title insurance company activities related to rate setting.” (*Quelimane, supra*, 19 Cal.4th at 33; Opinion at pp. 27, 34, 36, and 37.) That bedrock principle is also followed in the cases cited by Villanueva. The Court of Appeal analyzed the particular facts of cases that addressed section 12414.26 or statutes analogous to section 12414.26 and recognized that consistent with the statutory plain language and the holding in *Quelimane*, a determinative factor for applying section 12414.26 immunity can be whether rate-making activity is at issue. (*Id.* at pp. 29-36.)

Far from there being any conflict in the cases, the Court of Appeal was readily able to categorize them harmoniously based on the determinative factor of whether rate-making activity was challenged as follows:

- **Immunity for Rate-Making Activity:** *Walker v. Allstate Indem. Co.* (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 750 (*Walker*) [challenge to auto insurance rates approved by Insurance Commissioner]; *MacKay v. Superior Court* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 1427 (*MacKay*) [challenge to use of rating factors that had been approved by the Insurance Commissioner]; *Lyons v. First Am. Title Ins. Co.* (N.D. Cal. Dec. 22, 2009, No. C 09-4156 PJH) 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 119859 [race discrimination case that was actually a challenge to title insurance rates accepted by the Insurance Commissioner].
- **No Immunity for Activity Unrelated to Rate Making:** *Quelimane, supra*, 19 Cal.4th at 40 [conspiracy to refuse to provide title insurance]; *Krumme v. Mercury Ins. Co.* (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 924 (*Krumme*) [false advertising]; *State Comp. Ins. Fund v. Superior Court* (2001) 24 Cal. 4th 930 (*SCIF*) [misallocating medical-legal expenses in reports submitted to workers compensation insurance rating bureau]; *In re Cal. Title Ins. Antitrust Litig.* (N.D. Cal. Nov. 6, 2009, C 08-01341 JSW) 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 103407 [allegations related to illegal rebates, kickbacks and commissions].

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